1954

Lois H. White v. N. P. Mettome Co. et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action against the State Insurance Fund before the Industrial Commission of Utah by the Appellant, Lois H. White, widow of Paul White, deceased, to recover compensation as a result of the death of Paul White in the course of his employment.

The Industrial Commission heard the evidence on the 4th day of February, 1954, beginning at 10:00 A.M. The hearing was held before Robert J. Shaughnessy, Referee. The Commission entered its order on the 4th day of March, 1954, denying the claim of the Appellant. The Appellant thereafter on the 13th day of March, 1954, filed an application before the Industrial Commission for a re-hearing, which application for re-hearing was denied on April 8th, 1954.

The Appellant filed her Petition for Writ of Certiorari on the 1st day of May, 1954, and the Industrial Commission of Utah filed with this Court the record of this case on the 17th day of May, 1954.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case are very simple. Lois H. White, the Appellant, and Paul White, the deceased, were married on the 21st day of November, 1941, and a Decree of Divorce was awarded to Lois H. White from Paul White, Case No. 99089, in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on the 10th day of July, 1953.

On the 6th day of October, 1953, while Paul White was employed as an ironworker by the N. P. Mettome Company, he sustained an injury arising out of, or in the course of, his employment and died as a result of said injury two days later on October 8th, 1953. He was earning \$2.67 per hour on a 40 hour per week basis.

During the period of time between the date of the divorce and the date of the death, Mr. and Mrs. White had seen each other on a number of occasions and had communicated by telephone on numerous other occasions. At the time of and prior to the divorce Mr. White had been addicted to the excessive use of alcoholic beverages, and Mrs. White had insisted on a divorce with the hope that he would straighten up and terminate his excessive drinking; in which event, the parties had agreed that they would resume their marital relationship and have the decree set aside during that period of time.

Between the date of the divorce and the date of the death of Mr. White, Mr. White had ceased his excessive drinking and had been employed steadily, and Mr. and Mrs. White had discussed on several occasions the setting aside of the divorce and the resumption of the marriage. Just a day or two before the death of Mr. White he had talked with Mrs. White and had made a specific appointment with her for the following Sunday, at which time they planned to complete their arrangements to set aside the divorce and to go back and live together as man and wife, and she agreed with him that she would quit work and go back and take care of the house, and that he would continue working and maintain and support them after resumption of their marital status. Before this eventful Sunday arrived of course Mr. White was killed and the resumption of the marriage, of course, never took place as they had planned.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

POINT I

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT LOIS H. WHITE AND PAUL WHITE WERE NOT HUSBAND AND WIFE.

POINT II

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO DEPENDENCY NOR PRESUMPTION OF DEPENDENCY BY MRS. WHITE ON HER HUSBAND, PAUL WHITE.

POINT III

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO AGREED DEPENDENCY OF MRS. WHITE ON HER HUSBAND, MR. WHITE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT LOIS H. WHITE AND PAUL WHITE WERE NOT HUSBAND AND WIFE.

The cases seem to hold almost unanimously that the death of a spouse during the interlocutory period of divorce terminates the marriage rather than the running of the interlocutory period as the following cases unequivocally indicated:

Remley v. Remley, 193 P. 604

This was an action for divorce wherein the court ordered the payment of a monthly allowance for the support of minor children, and gave a lien

to the plaintiff to secure the payment of the allowance against defendant's interest in homestead property:

(2) The interlocutory judgment in a divorce action is not a decree of divorce nor does it dissolve the marriage. It is merely a declaration that one of the spouses is entitled to a divorce (section 131, Civ. Code), and when one year has expired after the entry of such interlocutory judgment the court may enter the final judgment, granting the divorce, and such other relief as may be necessary to complete disposition of the action.

(3) In its decision the court should determine whether a divorce ought to be granted; it should designate the party entitled thereto, and if property rights are involved it should determine how the property should be disposed of or assigned when such divorce is granted.

Gould v. Superior Court, 191 P. 56.

This action was originally a divorce action brought by Frank H. Gould against his wife, Nettie Gould, and on her cross-complaint she was granted a decree and certain properties and monthly payments as permanent alimony. Frank H. Gould died one month after the interlocutory decree was entered:

(1) Under the provisions of section 132 of the Civil Code, the marital status of the parties was not affected by the interlocutory decree, further than that it established conclusively, unless set aside on appeal or in some other manner expressly provided by statute, the defendant's right to divorce upon the expiration of the statutory

period of one year, which must elapse between the entry of the interlocutory decree and the final judgment dissolving the marriage.

(6 & 7) The death of the husband terminated the marital relationship. — — — Upon the death of the husband, the rights of the wife under the laws of succession, if he died intestate, were fixed, unless those rights had theretofore been changed by contract with the husband.

(8 & 9) Since the marriage was not dissolved by the entry of the final decree, but by the death of the husband — — — it would appear — — — that the entry of the final decree accomplished nothing.

Gloyd v. Superior Court, 185 P. 995.

This was a case where Albert M. Gloyd was granted an interlocutory decree against his wife. Shortly thereafter and during the interlocutory period he died and she claims his estate as his widow. The court held that the death terminated the marriage and not the divorce, and stated as follows:

(3) That relation and status having been dissolved by death, the petitioner, Malette S. Gloyd, forthwith became the surviving wife of Albert M. Gloyd, with the vested right to be recognized as his widow and with such further vested rights of property as may result from the fact that she was his wife at the time of his death.

The Court in this same case quoted from the estate of Walker, 168 P. 689, in which case the court stated:

“The marriage relation existing between the husband and wife was not dissolved by the interlocutory decree of divorce, but by the death of the husband on November 20, 1913.”

The following cases all hold specifically that an interlocutory decree of divorce does not terminate the marriage and that the marriage is not terminated until the expiration of the interlocutory period, and that a marriage contracted during the interlocutory period is void ab initio because of the prior existing marriage and that a death which occurs during the interlocutory period terminates the marriage and not the death:

Sanders v. Industrial Commission (230 P. 1026); Salt Lake City v. Industrial Commission (22 P. 2d 1046); Klebora v. Klebora (5 P 2d 965) Re: Johnson's Estate—Johnson v. Johnson (35 P. 2d 305).

POINT II

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO DEPENDENCY NOR PRESUMPTION OF DEPENDENCY BY MRS. WHITE ON HER HUSBAND, PAUL WHITE.

The courts hold with reference to Point II that the lack of actual support by the husband does not of itself negative dependency, which theory is borne out in the following as well as in many other cases:

Diaz vs. Industrial Commission of Utah, 13 P. 2d 307.

In this case the wife and children had been separated from the husband for approximately two years, but the separation did not eliminate the husband's obligation to support, nor did it termi-

nate the dependency of the wife on the husband. There are numerous cases cited in this case upholding the same doctrine.

McGarry vs. Industrial Commission, 222 P. 592.

This court stated that "we know of no authority which holds that the furnishing of support during the life of the deceased is absolutely essential to the establishment of actual dependency",

Merrill vs. Penasco Lumber Company, 204 P. 72.

The court said "That just as the existance of the marital status does not of itself prove dependency, so the lack of actual support by the husband does not of itself negative dependency".

POINT III

THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO AGREED DEPENDENCY OF MRS. WHITE ON HER HUSBAND, MR. WHITE.

With reference to Point III, this court has laid down the law on this point very clearly as set forth in the case of, *Utah Galena Corporation et al vs. Industrial Commission et al*, 5P. 2d 242:

This is a case involving the question of dependency.

Judge Folland in his opinion in this case quotes as follows from 28 R.C.L. pages 770 and 771, as being the law in the State of Utah:

(a) "As a very general proposition it may be said that a dependent is one who looked to or

relied on the decedent for support and maintenance. Reliance must have been placed upon the deceased employee to provide the applicant for compensation, in some measure or to some extent, with his or her *future* living expenses.

* * * The purpose of the statute is to provide the workman's dependent in *future* with something in substitution for what has been lost by the workman's death, and consequently, to establish dependency the applicant for compensation must show that he or *she had reasonable grounds to anticipate future support from the decedent. This reasonable expectation of continuing or future support and maintenance seems to be the true criterion as to who are dependents.*"

Judge Folland in the same opinion quotes from 28 R.C.L. at page 771, the following as being the law of the State of Utah:

"A person may be a dependent, according to this view, although able to maintain himself without any assistance from the decedent. And so the mere ability to earn a livelihood will not prevent one from being a dependent."

In the instant case Mrs. White had been supporting herself of necessity after the Decree of Divorce, but she certainly had anticipated being able to quit her job and stay home while her husband worked and earned a livelihood for both of them, in fact, it was more than a mere anticipation, it was a specific agreement. The parties had specifically agreed that when Mr. White quit drinking (and the fact is uncontroverted that he had quit drinking) they would resume their marital relation and

she would quit work and he would support her. This specific agreement was not necessary as he had the obligation by law to do so even without the agreement.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion it is important to note that all of the facts herein stated and all of the evidence of Mrs. White is uncontroverted; therefore, we can but conclude (1) that the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. White was terminated by the death of Mr. White, and was not therefore effected by the running of the interlocutory period, and (2) that although Mrs. White was not only employed during the period of time from the date of divorce to the date of the death of Mr. White but she was employed prior to the divorce also, nevertheless she was a dependant by law both before the divorce and after the divorce; and, that although she did not receive her actual support from him at the time of his death she did have a reasonable future anticipation of dependency, and under the law previously stated by this court, that is sufficient to establish dependency to justify an award, and the Appellant therefore respectfully submits that this case should be reversed and an award made to the Appellant in the amount provided for by statute for the death of her husband while in the course of his employment.