1954

Lois H. White v. N. P. Mettome Co. et al : Defendants' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an application before the Industrial Commission of Utah by Lois H. White for benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Law on account of the fatal industrial accident suffered by Paul White on October 6, 1953. After a hearing, the Industrial Commission rendered its decision denying her claim upon its finding that she was not a dependent of the deceased employee. She and her attorney have brought the case to this Court for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

We agree with the facts stated by Plaintiff's attorney on page 2 of his brief, that Lois H. White and Paul White were married in 1941 and that Paul White was killed in the course of his employment on October 6, 1953. The State Insurance Fund carried the compensation insurance liability of his employer. We also agree with the statement that there was a decree of divorce awarded to Lois H. White from Paul White on July 10, 1953. But we think that Plaintiff's attorney has added some of his own inferences and conclusions to the facts which he has stated on page 3 of his brief.

With respect to the evidence on the subject of Paul White's "quitting drinking", Mrs. White testified (Tr. 6 and 7) :

"A. Well, I told him that if he'd quit drinking, why, then I'd drop the divorce proceedings. And he said he'd try. But he didn't for awhile."

(and at Tr. 8) :

"A. Well, once or twice after we got the decree I talked to him about it. * * * he said he was quitting drinking, he was doing better about it, and asked me if I'd reconsider. And I told him that I would if he, if he could show me that he was quitting drinking. And he said that he wanted to start coming down and see me again, to show me that he was quitting, and that. And I told him it was all right with me, if he could show me that he was turning over a new leaf, as it were, so we could go back together."

With respect to the time she met him on the street and they agreed he would come and see her the following Sunday, she testified (Tr. 9) :

“A. Well, we wanted to get it squared away as to whether we would go back together or not.”

In other words, her testimony was that if the fatal accident had not happened, they were going to meet together the following Sunday and discuss whether they might be able to go back living together.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION WAS CORRECT IN DENYING LOIS H. WHITE'S CLAIM BECAUSE SHE WAS NOT A DEPENDENT OF THE DECEASED EMPLOYEE.

On July 10, 1953, Lois White, the applicant and plaintiff in this case, filed in the Salt Lake County Clerk's office a divorce action against her husband, Paul White, on the grounds of mental cruelty. In her complaint she stated that they owned an equity in a duplex at 1540 South 11th East, Salt Lake City, Utah, and that they also owned furnishings and furniture at that location. She requested that she be granted that equity and those furnishings and furniture, and also an automobile which was her own personal property. Her husband, Paul White, signed an appearance and waiver before a notary public, and this was also filed in the Salt Lake County Clerk's office the same day, July 10, 1953. District Judge D. T. Lewis granted the divorce

as prayed for by the plaintiff the same day the complaint was filed. The decree granted her the property which she had requested. In her complaint Lois White had specifically waived any right to alimony or support money. Accordingly the decree did not grant her any alimony or support money. Lois White and Paul White did not ever live together after the decree was granted. He was killed three months later.

The question which was before the Industrial Commission in this case, and is now before the Supreme Court for determination, is not so much whether Lois H. White was the wife of Paul White on October 6, 1953, when he received his fatal accident. The question is not what property rights she might have in a probate proceeding relating to his estate. The question is whether she comes within the statutory provision of the Workmen's Compensation Law relating to death cases. Section 35-1-71, U. C. A. 1953, specifies:

“The following persons shall be presumed to be wholly dependent for support upon a deceased employee:

“(1) A wife upon a husband with whom she lives at the time of his death.

“(2) Children under the age of eighteen years or over such age, if physically or mentally incapacitated, upon the parent, with whom they are living at the time of the death of such parent, or who is legally bound for their support.

“In all other cases, the question of dependency, in whole or in part, shall be determined in accordance with the facts in each particular case existing at the time of the injury resulting in the death of

such employee, but no person shall be considered as dependent unless he is a member of the family of the deceased employee, or bears to him the relation of husband or wife, lineal descendant, ancestor, or brother or sister. The word 'child' as used in this title shall include a posthumous child, and a child legally adopted prior to the injury. Half brothers and sisters shall be included in the words 'brother or sister' as above used."

Lois White was not living with Paul White at the time of his death (Tr. 13). Consequently, the only other basis upon which she might claim compensation benefits must be found in the category of "all other cases", where the question of dependency must be determined in accordance with the facts. The undisputed fact is that Paul White did not support Lois White after July 10, 1953. She did not receive any money from him after the divorce decree. She was not dependent upon him for any of her support, in fact or in law, at the time he received his fatal accident.

The applicant's attorney has argued that this divorced couple might have become reconciled and gone back to living together before the end of the six months interlocutory period. That argument is based upon conjecture. Applicant testified that her husband was "quitting" drinking. But she did not testify that she was convinced and satisfied that he had "quit". She testified that it was her "hope and expectation" that Paul White would "quit drinking and tend to his business", and that they could go back to living together again (Tr. 10). In other words, she hoped that he would change his drinking habits and reform. She intended to resume the marriage relationship with him only when she was satisfied that he had done so. Whether that

would have ever been the situation prior to the end of the six months interlocutory period is problematical and conjectural. If her hopes had been realized, the proper legal procedure would have been to apply to the District Court which had granted the interlocutory decree for an order vacating the decree and dismissing the divorce action. An affirmative legal action on her part would have been necessary in order to change her legal status.

Applicant's situation with respect to hopes of a possible reconciliation placed her in a position somewhat similar to that of a woman who is engaged to be married. If her fiance is killed in an industrial accident prior to the performance of the marriage ceremony, she is not a "dependent" under the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Law. They may have had their future marriage plans all arranged and agreed upon. They may have even rented a house or an apartment and purchased household furnishings in contemplation of their intended marriage. But no matter how near they had come to becoming husband and wife, she is not his "dependent" under the Workmen's Compensation Law, because Section 35-1-71 provides that:

“* * * the question of dependency * * * shall be determined in accordance with the *facts* * * * *existing at the time of the injury* resulting in the death of such employee, * * *.”

One of the cases cited on page 7 of Plaintiff's brief was *Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission*, 22 Pac. (2nd) 1046, 82 Utah 179. In that case the Industrial Commission awarded compensation to Mrs. Alicia Poate as the

widow of Frank Poate, an employee of Salt Lake City, who was fatally drowned July 28, 1932, in the course of his employment. The only question involved in the case was whether she was his lawful wife at the time of his death. She had sued and obtained an interlocutory decree of divorce from him on Dec. 14, 1927. On May 14, 1928, the District Court made an order to the effect that it had been brought to the attention of the Court that there was a possibility of a reconciliation between plaintiff and defendant. The Court, upon its own motion, ordered that the interlocutory decree should not become final until Dec. 13, 1928. On Sept. 25, 1928, the same Judge who granted the decree and made the previous order, made the following order:

“On application of the above named parties personally appearing in open court, it is ordered that the judgment heretofore entered in the above entitled case and the default of the defendant herein be and the same is hereby set aside and the case dismissed.”

The parties thereafter resumed marital relations until the death of Poate as aforesaid. Under the foregoing facts Salt Lake City contended that the Court was without power or right to extend the time for the divorce to become final, and that in any event it was without power to set aside the decree of divorce and dismiss the action by its subsequent order of Sept. 25, 1928, as the decree had become final and after the end of the term in which the decree was entered. (It was stipulated that the term of Court in which the decree was entered, had ended at the time said order was made.)

The Supreme Court held that the order of the District Court, setting aside the decree and dismissing the action, was not void on its face and was valid for the purpose of the proceeding in question; that each of the parties to the divorce action would have been estopped to question the validity of the order; therefore, the employer was not in any better position to question it. The order of the Commission awarding compensation was affirmed.

That case was considerably different from the situation of Mrs. White in our present case. In the Salt Lake City case Mrs. Poate had obtained a dismissal of the divorce action and was living with Mr. Poate and being supported by him for four years prior to his fatal accident.

A recent case in which the Supreme Court of Utah ruled upon our present question was *Loretta Earley, for herself and on behalf of Joanne L. McIntyre, Sharon McIntyre and Carol McIntyre, minor children of Jack L. McIntyre, deceased, vs. The Industrial Commission of Utah*, 265 Pac. (2nd) 390. (Decision dated Dec. 30, 1953.)

The greater part of the Supreme Court's opinion in this case deals with the rights of the minor children of the deceased employee, Jack L. McIntyre, to compensation benefits on account of his accidental death. But there was also involved in this case the question of whether the employee's widow was entitled to compensation benefits. She had lived with him for 15 years prior to May 1, 1951. He had been the sole support of her and their children until December, 1950, when she started to work as a psychiatric technician. After Mr. McIntyre left her and the children on May 1, 1951, they received no assistance from him. A

month after his departure Mrs. McIntyre filed a divorce action. She had not been able to obtain personal service of summons upon him, and before she could have summons published Mr. McIntyre was killed in an automobile accident in the course of his employment on September 29, 1951. About two weeks later Mrs. McIntyre married Mr. Early. Thereafter she filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah a claim on behalf of herself and the McIntyre children. The Industrial Commission denied compensation to both her and the children.

The Supreme Court of Utah held that the children were entitled to compensation on account of the death of their father. But the Court also held that the Industrial Commission was correct in denying compensation to Mr. McIntyre's widow. The Court's opinion in effect held that inasmuch as she was not living with him at the time of his fatal accident there was no legal presumption that she was dependent upon him, and that the facts in the case did not justify a finding that she was dependent upon him.

Koepfel vs. E. I. Dupont De Nemours & Company, 194 Atl. 847, was a Delaware case in which the claimant was the widow of John Koepfel, who was fatally injured on March 15, 1935, in the course of his employment. There were no minor children. Claimant had married the employee in 1903. They lived together until May, 1924, when they separated. Thereafter they never resumed cohabitation. For about six years following their separation the deceased paid to the claimant \$10.00 per week under a voluntary arrangement. For the next four years and ten months the only payment he made to her was \$1.00 just

prior to Christmas, 1934, at which time he stated he would give her additional sums later on. No civil or criminal proceedings were ever instituted by her against her husband to compel him to support her. The Court held she was not entitled to compensation, because the Delaware Workmen's Compensation Law provided that:

"No compensation shall be payable under this section to a widow, unless she was living with her deceased husband at the time of his death or was then actually dependent upon him for support."

Plaintiff's attorney has cited several cases in his brief relating to the subject of divorce decrees, but most of these cases are not in point in our present discussion because they do not involve facts having any similarity to the factual situation existing in the case at bar. On page 4 of Plaintiff's brief is cited the case of *Remley vs. Remley*, 193 Pac. 604. On page 5 of Plaintiff's brief is cited *Gould vs. Superior Court*, 191 Pac. 56. On page 6 of Plaintiff's brief is cited *Gloyd vs. Superior Court*, 185 Pac. 995. On page 7 of Plaintiff's brief is cited *Klebora vs. Klebora*, 5 Pac. (2nd) 965. All four of these cases are California decisions involving questions relating to property rights after an interlocutory divorce decree had been entered, but the final decree had not yet been entered as is necessary under the California procedure. None of these cases involved any provision of the Workmen's Compensation Law, and none of them involved any question of "dependency" upon a deceased employee. That was also the situation in the Utah case of *Johnson's Estate—Johnson vs. Johnson*,

35 Pac. (2nd) 305, 84 Utah 168, which was cited on page 7 of Plaintiff's brief.

In the case of *McGarry vs. Ind. Comm.*, 222 Pac. 592, 63 Utah 81, which was cited on page 8 of Plaintiff's brief, the deceased employee, Delos Bradley had married his wife in 1914, and they had a child in 1915. Bradley lived with his wife and child until the early part of 1916 and supported them. Between then and November, 1919, he deserted them and assumed the name of "Jack Wilson". His wife obtained a divorce from him in Idaho on November 11, 1919. After Bradley was killed in an industrial accident in Utah in October, 1922, his former wife applied for compensation benefits for their son. The Industrial Commission of Utah granted an award for him, apparently upon the theory that he was presumed to be dependent because he was legally entitled to support from his father. (That was before the statute had been amended to so provide.)

The Supreme Court of Utah annulled the award because the facts showed that the boy was not living with the father at the time of the fatal accident. Also, the Commission had not made any findings of actual dependency. There was no discussion in the Court's opinion as to whether the divorced wife was entitled to any compensation benefits for herself; she had not applied for any such benefits.

In the case of *Diaz vs. Ind. Comm.*, 13 Pac. (2nd) 307, 80 Utah 77, which is cited on page 7 of Plaintiff's brief, there was no divorce action involved. All that was con-

tained in the opinion written by Justice Straup relating to the matter of dependency of the wife and grandchild was obiter dicta. He was the only one of the five justices who discussed the matter of dependency. Each of the other four justices held that the evidence before the Industrial Commission was such as to require a finding that Mr. Diaz' death did not result from an industrial accident. Therefore, nobody would be entitled to compensation as a dependent, no matter what their relationship was to the deceased employee. In that case there was evidence that Diaz had supplied some support to his wife and her granddaughter during the period he had lived separately from them.

In the case of *Utah Galena Corp. vs. Ind. Comm.*, 5 Pac. (2nd) 242, 78 Utah 495, which is cited on page 8 of Plaintiff's brief, one sentence in the Court's opinion shows that there is no similarity to the question involved in that case and the question involved in the case at bar. At 78 Utah page 497 is found the following:

"The only question presented by this appeal is whether * * * the Industrial Commission may under any circumstances award compensation on account of dependency to a male child over the age of 16 at the time of the death of the parent, and who is not physically or mentally incapacitated from earning."

Point One of Plaintiff's brief states that the Industrial Commission erred in finding that Lois H. White and Paul White were not husband and wife. We have carefully examined the Referee's recommendations and the Industrial Commission's decision in this case, and we do not see any

finding that Lois H. White and Paul White were not husband and wife at the time of his accident. Whether they were husband and wife at the time is not a controlling factor in this case. Even though it be conceded for the purpose of argument that she was still his wife when he was fatally injured, that would not entitle her to compensation benefits unless she met the statutory requirements of either living with him or being supported by him. The Industrial Commission's findings and decision on those latter two points were soundly based on undisputed evidence.

Inasmuch as Paul White was killed in the course of his employment and did not leave any dependents, the State Insurance Fund is required to pay his funeral expenses and also to pay \$1,800.00 into the Combined Injury Benefit Fund, as provided by Section 35-1-68, subsection 1, U. C. A. 1953.

CONCLUSION

The Industrial Commission's order, denying compensation benefits to Lois H. White, should be sustained.